

BY Holly Chadwick

ADVISOR • R. Isil Yavuz

EDITORIAL REVIEWER • Crystal Jiang

_ Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for graduation with honors in the Bryant University Honors Program

April 2023

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Literature Review	4
Culture and Creativity	4
Leadership and Creativity	9
Conceptual Framework	12
Cultural Context and Employee Creativity	12
Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity	13
Supervisor Gender and Interaction Frequency	14
Interaction Frequency and Employee Creativity	15
Supervisor Gender, Interaction Frequency and Employee Creativity	16
Data and Methodology	17
Sample and Data	17
Measures	19
Dependent Variable	19
Independent Variable	19
Mediating Variable	20
Control Variables	20
Estimation Strategy	20
Results	23
Discussion and Implications	25
Theorical Contributions	27
Practical Implications	27
Limitation and Future Research	28
Conclusion	29
Appendices	31
Appendix A – Supervisor Survey	31
Appendix B – Employee Survey	
References	48

ABSTRACT

Even though women have consistently proved that they excel through transformational leadership styles (Eagly, et al., 2003; Eagly & Johannesen-Schmidt, 2001), a type of leadership that drives creativity in individuals, they remain underrepresented in organizations globally (Michalidis, et al., 2012). Thus, it is important to understand how creativity is influenced by leadership, and how leadership is influenced by gender and frequency of supervisor-employee interaction. This study utilizes a self-reporting survey which was distributed to several companies involved in federal direct investment within China. The countries accounted for in the study were Germany, Japan, and South Korea, and results will focus on leaders and subordinates within these organizations and their country of origin, creativity scores, and leadership styles. It is predicted that Germany, representing Western culture, will positively impact employee creativity, while South Korea and Japan, representing Eastern culture, will negatively impact employee creativity. Additionally, constant with social role theory and transformational leadership styles, it is presumed that female supervisors, compared to male supervisors, will positively influence employee creativity. Lastly it is expected that due to their transformative leadership styles, female supervisors will encourage more supervisor-employee interaction, which in turn helps foster greater employee creativity. This work seeks to contribute to the existing body of work because while there is an everlasting need for creativity in organizations, there is a need for more research to examine how women benefit the workplace by promoting employee creativity.

INTRODUCTION

In an increasingly complex and uncertain global environment, employee creativity has become the driving force and core capability of many companies to redefine unique and poorly understood problems, develop innovative solutions, and achieve and maintain competitive advantage (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004). Accordingly, factors that enhance and inhibit employee creativity within organizations have received increasing research attention in recent years. Leadership is considered one of the key antecedents of employee creativity and organizational innovation (Hughes et al., 2018). Thus, many researchers have examined the influence of different leadership approaches (i.e., transformational, transactional, authentic, servant...etc.) on employee creativity and explored various mediating and moderating roles of team/organizational contexts (i.e., job autonomy, job complexity, innovation climate, organizational structure...etc.) and follower attributes (i.e., internal motivation, openness to experience, extroversion...etc.) in this relationship.

In addition to leadership being a key factor that influences creativity, scholars have also recognized that "creativity is culture-bound" (Kwan, et al., 2018, p.3), suggesting that individuals among different cultures have different values that can alter certain types of creative practices (Bendapudi et al., 2018; Kwan, et al., 2018). A key framework used to explore how culture inhibits or encourages creativity is Hofstede's cultural dimensions. Among these dimensions several can be applied to the organizational environment and employee creativity. These include individualism/collectivism, power distance, uncertainty avoidance, masculinity/ femininity, and Confucian work dynamics/ long-term orientation. Moreover, depending on how a country scores on these specific values can potentially encourage or discourage individuals from expressing unique ideas for further development during the idea selection process (Harzing & Hofstede, 1996; Li, et al., 2013; Westwood & Low, 2003; Kwan, et al., 2018).

In addition to leadership styles and culture, prior research has also shown that male and female leaders can affect employee creativity differently (Maliakkal & Palmon, 2022). However, although the number of women in leadership positions is increasing worldwide

Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity: The Mediating Role of Interaction Frequency Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

(World Economic Forum, 2022), the mechanism through which supervisor gender influences employee creativity and innovation is poorly understood (Zuraik et al., 2020). In this paper, we extend this research frontier by investigating how a supervisor's gender influences employee creativity and the mediating role of the frequency of supervisor-employee interaction in this relationship. By drawing from social role theory and leader-member exchange (LMX) theory, we test our hypotheses on three foreign subsidiaries located in China that represent home-country cultures of Germany, Japan, and South Korea, and consequentially find empirical support for our hypotheses. Our results contribute to employee creativity and innovation literature since it is among the first to systematically propose and test the mechanism through which a supervisor's gender influence employee creativity in a cross-cultural setting.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Creativity is a complex and multidimensional construct that can be defined in a myriad of ways. As defined by Amabile (1988), "creativity is the production of novel and useful ideas by an individual or small group of individuals working together" (p.126). These unique concepts are then repurposed as the foundation for innovation (Amabile, 1988). The difference between them being that innovation encompasses the development and the successful implementation of creative ideas (Amabile, 1988). Overall, there is a consensus in the existing literature that creativity refers to something that is both unique and valuable. Consequently, creativity is vital for business success (Ghosh, 2015), and sets the foundation for organizational creativity, innovation, and competitive advantage (Eagly & Johannesen-Schmidt, 2001; Rohmann & Rowold, 2009).

As previously mentioned, culture influences creativity in an organizational context; such that cultures that foster high individualism, low power distance, and low uncertainty avoidance are more conducive to expressing and sampling unique ideas for further development (Harzing & Hofstede, 1996; Li et al., 2013; Westwood & Low, 2003, Kwan, et al., 2018). Consequently, these specific values, in line with Western culture (Kwan, et al., 2018), reduce conformity pressures and anxiety of ambiguities; thus, they support greater exploration of various and counter normative ideas and approaches (Kwan, et al., 2018). In contrast, countries in line with Eastern culture foster collectivism, high power distance, and high uncertainty avoidance and thus have a higher tendency to harmonize conflicts and to compromise contradictions by finding a middle ground (Leung et al., 2017; Kwan, et al., 2018). As a result, these cultures are less likely to reap creative benefits from their experiences because of their desire to harmonize tension and avoid conflict or contradictions.

Culture and Creativity

A distinctive element that impacts creativity is culture; a concept that is varied and often difficult to define. With that said, among various definitions, it is generally agreed that culture is learned and commonly associated with groups of people that have collectively established norms, values, shared meanings, and patterned ways of behaving (O'Reilly, 1989; Mead, et

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

al., 1953; McFate, 2005; Bozeman, 1992; Boyd & Richardson, 1988; Kroeber & Kluckhohn, 1952; Birukou, et al., 2013).

The Hofstede cultural dimensions are a tool used by individuals globally to analyze and compare how individuals from different cultures behave (Hofstede, 2003). Published in the 1970's, Geert Hofstede's dimensional research provides insights into cultural variation, so that individuals can strengthen their effectiveness when interacting with people from differing countries and backgrounds (Hofstede, 2003). To analyze cultures, present in Eastern and Western countries, four of Hofstede's cultural dimensions are used as they more closely align with work-related cultural dimensions. The four dimensions include Individualism/ Collectivism, Power Distance, Uncertainty Avoidance, and Masculinity/ Femininity (Wu, 2006).

The first dimension, Individualism/ Collectivism, illustrates how individuals value their groups and or organizations (Wu, 2006; Hofstede, 2003). Cultures that score high on individualism tend to focus their efforts on self-actualization and career progress within the organization, while collectivist cultures concentrate efforts towards organizational benefits instead of their own interests (Wu, 2006; Hofstede, 2003).

The second dimension, power distance, demonstrates the power inequality between leaders and subordinates. In high power distance organizations, organizational hierarchy is evident and there is a barrier separating superiors and subordinates, reducing the communication and collaboration between leaders and employees (Wu, 2006; Hofstede, 2003). In contrast, low power distance organizations tend to maintain flat organizational structure.

The third dimension, uncertainty avoidance, describes individuals' "tolerance of ambiguity" (Wu, 2006 p.34; Hofstede, 2003). In organizations that practice high uncertainty avoidance, there are written rules and practices to avoid uncertainty, while in low uncertainty avoidance organizations, there are less written rules and procedures to mitigate risk (Wu, 2006; Hofstede, 2003).

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

The fourth dimension, masculinity, defines the expected role of gender in organizations. Cultures that score high on the masculinity scale illustrate a society where individuals prefer to have males in power and presume men to be effective leaders (Wu, 2006). Meanwhile, countries that score low on masculinity can be defined as feminine cultures because they represent a society where gender roles are consistent and the difference between men and women is less drastic as both genders show interest in the quality of life and the nurturement of others (An & Kim, 2007).

Lastly, in 1990, Hofstede introduced a fifth cultural dimension, Confucian work dynamics, to represent the Confucian values in Chinese society. This cultural dimension encompasses ordering relationships, thrift, persistence, and having a sense of shame; however, this cultural dimension was renamed in 2001 as Long-Term Orientation (Wu, 2006). In contrast, the opposing side to this dimension is short term orientation. Leaders who value short term orientation exhibit qualities that align with the reciprocation of greetings, favors, and gratification, and have a respect for tradition, self-consistency, and personal steadiness and stability (Hofstede & Minkov, 2010).

It is important for this study to acknowledge cultural variation because it can influence the way individuals express unique ideas for further development during the idea selection process (Harzing & Hofstede, 1996; Li, et al., 2013; Westwood & Low, 2003; Kwan, et al., 2018). In this research, two examples are presented: Western culture and Eastern culture. For this literature review, South Korea and Japan will represent Eastern culture, while Germany will represent Western culture.

South Korean culture exhibits cultural virtues that align more significantly with Confucian beliefs compared to other Asian countries (Dorfman et al., 1997). The Confucian theory values the preservation of harmonious relationships and trust and considers them critical for business activities. In addition, Confucian theory promotes respect and conformity to senior leaders, who in response accept responsibility for the well-being of future generations (Dorfman et al., 1997). Thus, consistent with the Confucian values and most Asian cultures, South Korean individuals score highly for collectivist values as individuals value the success

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

of the organization over personal gains (Dorfman et al., 1997). However, while these variables promote harmony and collectivism, they also influence power distance which results in inequality among those of differing rank, control, and reputation (Dorfman et al., 1997). As for uncertainty avoidance, South Korean culture scores high, in fact they have been described as one of the most uncertainty avoiding countries across the globe (Ting & Ying, 2013). Lastly, South Korea scores low for masculinity and is considered a "feminine society" (Ting & Ying, 2013).

Like the culture present in South Korea, Stedman and Yamamura (1999), described Japan as a collectivist, high power distance, high uncertainty avoidance, and masculine country. On the Individualism/ Collectivism scale, Japan has consistently received low scores, with Chew and Putti (1995) reporting a score of 46 points, demonstrating that "Japanese individuals tend to seek advantages for their group rather than for themselves personally" (Hirokawa, et al., 2001. p.250). As for Power Distance, Chew and Putti (1995) found that Japan scored relatively high, with a score of 87.12. This score demonstrates that the Japanese traditional attitude of deferring to those of high status has remained consistent, illustrating their natural hierarchical nature (Chew & Putti, 1995). In terms of Uncertainty Avoidance, Chew and Putti (1995), reported that Japan received a high score of 92. To explain this score, Chew and Putti (1995) suggest that the Japanese demonstrate a high aversion risk which reflects an unwillingness to deal with uncertainties because of a fear of failure. In contrast to the previous dimensions which demonstrate cultural characteristics consistent with Eastern culture, Japan has received high scores on Masculinity, a quality generally found in Western cultures like Germany and the United States (Hirokawa, et al., 2001). Lastly, in common with Eastern counties, Hofstede, and Minkov (2010) found Japan ranked third on the Long-Term Orientation dimension, 22 points lower that South Korea which has a score of 100.

According to Brodbeck et al. (2002), consistent with Western culture, Germany scored low on collectivism and high on individualism. Germans demonstrate a more individualized society as they value individual achievement more highly compared to organizational achievement (Brodbeck et al., 2007; Engelen et al., 2014). In addition, individuals value self-esteem over

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

group allegiance, cohesion, or practicality (Brodbeck et al., 2007). Germany also scored low on power distance (Kuchinke, 1999; Brodbeck et al., 2007). As for uncertainty avoidance, Germany scores highly; this is attributable to their dependence on structure, organization, and security (Brodbeck et al., 2002; Hofstede, 1995). However, according to Brodbeck et al. (2002), German managers think there are too many rules, regulations, and constraints in individuals lives and are perceived to be interested in reducing them. Lastly, Germany scores highly on Hofstede's masculinity scale as Germans score highly on assertiveness and low on compassion, demonstrating that German culture exhibits more confrontational relationship styles. Moreover, their interactions are usually aggressive and assertive, and the language used is generally forthright and firm (Kuchinke, 1999; Brodbeck et al., 2007). Lastly, for Hofstede's Long-Term Orientation dimension, Germany has experienced a noticeable shift towards longer term orientation styles of leadership and are now remain within the top ten countries of the for Long Term Orientation alongside South Korea and Mainland China (Hofstede & Minkov, 2010).

Studying the cultures present within Eastern and Western societies is necessary to strengthen the understanding of how culture and creativity are interrelated. This concept is further developed in Zha et al. (2006) when researchers concluded that Western culture elicits a greater creative potential compared to that of Eastern culture (Zha et al., 2006). This has been demonstrated to be related to Eastern cultural characteristics that align with collectivism, power distance, and uncertainty avoidance (Paik & Xie, 2019). Additionally, it was claimed that educational systems, parental and societal expectations, and other socio-cultural variables have been observed to impact the regularity and quality of creative ideas that a society generates (Rudowicz, 2003). It is, however, critical to note that there is no substantial evidence that one culture is inherently more creative than another, but cultures are known to vary in the extent to which they value and nurture creativity (Zha et al., 2006). This literature emphasizes the need to consider how cultural context impacts organizational culture which thus influences employee creativity. Results in several studies have illustrated how culture variations cause organizations and individuals to operate differently and value different strategies within the workplace, which often coincides with the varying styles of leadership

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

(Zhou et al., 2018). This is important to note because when conducting business globally, organizational operations and strategies vary significantly and to nurture creativity and success, the cultural context needs to be understood (Zhou et al., 2018).

Leadership and Creativity

Another distinguishing factor that impacts creativity is leadership. Due to the international nature of this research study and the ambiguity of the concept of ideal leaders, it is necessary that an integrative definition of leadership be used. As a result of this specificity, a leader can be defined as one or more individuals who selects, prepares, and influences one or more follower(s) who vary in their abilities and strengths, and focuses them on the organizations missions and objectives, causing the followers to eagerly expend energy in a concentrated effort to achieve the organizations goals (Winston & Patterson, 2006).

To maintain a competitive advantage today, companies expect their employees to be able to redefine unique, poorly understood problems and develop innovative solutions. According to Reiter-Palmon and Illies (2004) to achieve these solutions, employees experience thorough and arduous cognitive processing, which can often be amplified within organizations due to ambiguous situations. Thus, to effectively develop creative solutions for organizational challenges, employees must identify, define, and construct a problem, research problem-relevant information, and generate a unique set of alternative solutions (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004).

The role leadership plays in this process is significant. Leaders can promote the facilitation of creative problem solving by providing access to and supporting the sharing of knowledge and information. However, simply having access to relevant information isn't sustainable; followers also need substantial time to ensure the ideas they produce are well-considered and effective. Sufficient time is a critical factor in idea production because previous studies on problem construction, research collection, and idea generation found that increased time spent on each step in the problem-solving process has been found to improve the creativity of the final product (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004).

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

It must be noted, however, that to create innovative solutions to problems, subordinates need ample time. Leaders can guarantee optimal time for idea generation by recognizing the significance of creative problem solving and providing increased time by taking a proactive approach as opposed to a reactive approach (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004). By planning and determining problems that are impacting an organization's growth and development in the early stage, a leader can provide their employees with more time to spend on developing solutions to problems before time becomes a critical component (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004). Additionally, instructions from leaders have also been studied for their impact on problem construction, information searching, and idea generation. It's been concluded that creativity is enhanced when leaders instruct their followers to spend more time on the specific processes or to actively engage in the processes (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004). Thus, leaders can assist in the creative process through instructions they give to their subordinates (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004).

Considering time, support, and instruction are both critical components for creativity (Reiter-Palmon & Illies, 2004), it is necessary to observe which types of leadership foster patience and direction. Two types of leadership styles prominent in organizational culture are transformational leadership and transactional leadership. Transformational leaders are viewed as involved, both actively and emotionally, with their employees (Jung, 2001). They foster environments for growth by emphasizing values and creating a shared vision among their employees within the organization (Martin, 2015). Additionally, transformational leaders have been observed to encourage employee risk taking by challenging assumptions, approaching problems in new ways (Çekmecelioğlu & Özbağ, 2016). Thus, it has been concluded that transformational leadership promotes increased levels of creativity (Jung, 2001).

This finding can be attributable to certain characteristics and virtues of transformational leadership such as intellectual stimulation, which has been found to help encourage followers to look at problems from a different perspective (Gonzalez et al., 2012). Another key characteristic is fortitude, which combines characteristics of perseverance, patience, and

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

endurance (Gonzalez et al., 2012). Overall, transformational leadership has been found to encourage creativity in groups by encouraging intellectual stimulation, promoting non-traditional thinking, and fostering a creative environment (Jung, 2001).

In contrast, transactional leadership style consists of leaders that establish norms and measures of employee behavior and then observe employees for any missteps and deviations (Jung, 2001). Within these norms, objectives are set, tasks are assigned, and expectations are clarified to ensure that employees' deliverables are up to par with the outcome that is desired (Sarros & Santora, 2001). While transactional leadership is not unsuccessful, it has been found that it is not adequate when it comes to creating meaningful change within an organization or encouraging followers to achieve at high levels (Jung, 2001). What is necessary in these instances is transformational leadership (Jung, 2001).

While transactional leadership may not encourage change as successfully as transformational leadership does, it does promote just as much creativity amongst subordinates. In a study conducted in 2012 in Pakistan, researchers found that transactional leaders also promote innovative work behavior through fostering innovative working environments, similarly to that of transformational leaders (Khan et. al., 2012). The differing results of these studies emphasize the need for further research in this area, especially since transactional leadership style has not been found to generate change, but it has been found to generate creativity (Khan et. al., 2012), the predecessor to innovation, which helps implement change (Eagly & Johannesen-Schmidt, 2001; Rohmann & Rowold, 2009).

Considering the lack of women represented within the labor force (Michalidis, et al., 2012), research has been conducted to determine whether leadership style is impacted by gender, and if that has any relation to the underrepresentation of females (Herrera et al., 2012). A study conducted in 2001 by researchers at Northwestern University investigated transformational and transactional styles of male and female leaders in a large sample of managers. The comparison between female and male leaders on their leadership outcomes showed that men exceeded women on three transactional scales suggesting that male managers, relative to female managers, directed attention to their subordinates' problems and mistakes, were

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

preoccupied during times of uncertainty, and waited until problems became severe before intervening. In contrast, women exceeded men on three transformational measures: the extra effort they encouraged from subordinates, the satisfaction that subordinates expressed about their leadership, and their overall effectiveness in leading (Eagly, et al., 2003).

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

Cultural Context and Employee Creativity

According to Hofstede there is significant cultural variation among countries globally so to better understand how they differ, Hofstede created five cultural dimensions that provide insights into the observed differences. Due to the nature of this study, we looked to four of these cultural dimensions: Individualism/Collectivism, Power Distance, Uncertainty Avoidance, and Masculinity/Femininity (Wu, 2006) as they more closely align with the cultural variation present in an organizational setting. The three countries of origin described in this study include Germany, Japan, and South Korea. Germany represents Western culture, while Japan and South Korea represent Eastern culture. There is some, but weak, evidence that individuals from Western compared to Eastern cultures have higher creative performance (Kwan, et al., 2018). These results are difficult to interpret because creativity is a result of individual-environment interactions, as opposed to being an intrapersonal trait. For example, Nouri, et al. (2013) conducted a study measuring the creative performance of Singaporeans and Israeli's and found that the two groups did not differ in their performance when they completed the task independently. However, when asked to work collaboratively, Singaporeans compared to Israeli groups produced fewer novel ideas. The Singaporean groups also elaborated more on the usefulness, as opposed to novelty, of their ideas. One potential explanation is that when collaborating, individuals are more likely to adhere to group think and social proofing and reference the norms of their team and choose ideas that are perceived to be acceptable to other members (Kwan, et al., 2018). Consistent with the cultural dimensions, this effect is more prevalent in Eastern cultures where group, compared to individual, preferences and goals are of greater emphasis (Kwan, et al., 2018). To this end, we suggest that employee creativity will be lower in Eastern cultures compared to Western cultures because East Asian cultures have a greater tendency to harmonize conflicts and to

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

negotiate challenges by finding a middle ground (Leung et al., 2017; Kwan, et al., 2018). Thus,

H1: Employee creativity will be lower in Eastern cultures compared to Western cultures.

Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity

According to social role theory, men and women have different social roles; where men are known to display behaviors that are more assertive, competitive, decisive, and agentic, while women are known to exhibit behaviors that are nurturing, empowering, cooperative, and communal (Eagly & Wood, 2012). Prior studies suggest that these differences in social expectations for men and women subject women to a greater prejudice as a mismatch for prototypical leadership roles, negatively influencing leadership success (Hentschel et al., 2018). Research examining the effect of leader gender on employee creativity, on the other hand, has produced mixed results. For example, Zuraik et al. (2020) found that male supervisors are more effective than female supervisors in encouraging risk-taking and speed of action and achieving higher levels of employee creativity and innovation than female supervisors. On the other hand, in an experimental study, Maliakkal and Reiter-Palmon (2022) show that female leaders increased the originality of subordinates' ideas.

In this paper, we argue that the same behaviors (i.e., nurturing, empowering, cooperative, and communal) that may disadvantage women in prototypical leadership roles might help them enhance the creativity of their subordinates. Creative tasks are uncertain and ambiguous, producing frustration, fear, and anxiety in group members (Edmondson & Mogelof, 2006). In such an environment, subordinates would be reluctant to offer their ideas if they feel their leader is not tolerant or receptive to what they say (Edmondson, 1999). We argue that because female leaders are more empathetic toward their subordinates (Rego et al., 2007) and better at creating a trusting and nurturing environment (Oshagbemi & Gill, 2003), employees would feel free to propose unconventional ideas and introduce conflicting opinions without fear of reprisal, and thus overcome the fear of challenging the status quo, which in turn increases creative thought and innovative problem-solving. Moreover, female leaders offer their subordinates greater autonomy so that they are more "empowered to take initiative, participate actively, and be self-starters" (Hu, et al., 2003). That is, female supervisors' high levels of

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

empathy and empowerment will likely result in increased employee creativity and innovation (Hu et al., 2003). Thus:

H2: Supervisor gender (i.e., being female) positively influences employee creativity.

Supervisor Gender and Interaction Frequency

We also suggest that women are more likely to foster a greater frequency of interaction with their subordinates because they are more prone to use an interpersonal and participative approach to leadership compared to their male counterparts (Ayman & Korabik, 2010). Furthermore, a more feminine style of leadership demonstrates characteristics such as caring and nurturance (Reuvers, et al., 2008). This is consistent with the social role theory, as previously mentioned, that proposes that leaders will behave by societal expectations about their gender roles (Reuvers et al., 2008). Women, in this respect, would be more predisposed to use transformational aspects of leadership, which often consists of individualized consideration and intellectual stimulation (Eagly & Johannesen-Schmidt, 2001; Reuvers, et al., 2008). In accordance with these findings, Fairhurst (1993) found that female leaders apply "different aligning, accommodating, and polarizing conversational patterns across differential LMX relationships" (Lee, 1999, p.419). For example, in harmony with the notion that females were more relationally concerned and skillful (Eagly & Johnson, 1990; Rosener, 1990; Lee, 1999), female leaders develop a "caregiver" role (Lee, 1999) and demonstrate individualized consideration and intellectual stimulation (Eagly & Johannesen-Schmidt, 2001). As such, in their large-scale study of 1,857 people, Anderson et al. (2006) finds that women, compared to men, tend to show greater levels of interpersonally oriented leadership behaviors, including increased oral communication and interaction. Furthermore, we suggest that relational communication that emphasizes interpersonal connections and caring on the part of the female supervisors would also help employees perceive overall organizational communication environments as open and participative and thus enhance employees' motivation for interaction. Taken together, we suggest that female supervisors' interpersonal and participative orientation toward their employees will increase the frequency of supervisoremployee interaction. Thus:

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

H3: Supervisors gender (i.e., being female) positively influences frequency of supervisoremployee interaction.

Interaction Frequency and Employee Creativity

From an LMX theory perspective, Sheer (2014) suggests that work and social interactions are the two most essential components of the leader-member relationship. As described by Atwater and Carmeli (2009), LMX theory is based on leadership and exchanges between leaders and followers, and the fundamental premise behind LMX is that within work teams, various types of relationships grow between leaders and followers. LMX can be categorized into two extremes: High LMX and Low LMX. High LMX is characterized as a relationship that is high quality and mature and fosters high levels of "information exchange, mutual support, informal influence, trust, and greater negotiating latitude and input in decision influence" (Lee, 1999, p.417). In contrast, Low LMX is characterized as a low-quality relationship in which there is more "formal supervision, less support, and less trust and attention from the leader" (Lee, 1999, p.417). As reported by Tierney, et al. (1999), the quality of the LMX relationship sets the foundation for employee's creative performance in several ways. For example, high LMX employees report that they engage in more difficult and pertinent tasks compared to their low LMX colleagues (Liden & Graen, 1980; Tierney, et al., 1999;); two conditions that have been correlated to creative performance in the workplace (Amabile & Gryskiewicz, 1987; Tierney, et al., 1999). High LMX employees are also more prone to participate in job-related risk taking (Graen & Cashman, 1975; Tierney, et al., 1999), obtain more task-related resources (Graen & Scandura, 1987; Tierney, et al., 1999), and receive recognition (Graen & Cashman, 1975; Tierney, et al., 1999). The mixture of these factors indicates a receptiveness and support for employee's creative work (Amabile, 1988; Ford, 1996; Tierney, et al., 1999). These interactions enhance idea divergence and convergence stages in employee creativity (Tierney, et al., 1999). More specifically, scholars suggest that communicating with employees regularly, exchanging valuable and relevant information, sharing knowledge, and giving feedback within a cooperative environment not only induce employees to be more expansive in their thinking and ideas (Zhou & George, 2003), but also enable them to see how their work and ideas are viewed, increase their

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

attention to the task at hand, and subsequently adjust and improve their ideas, leading to not only new but also useful ideas (Stobbeleir et al., 2011). Therefore, in line with prior work, we suggest that having frequent supervisor-employee interaction increases employees' sense of responsibility and provides a balance between restrictions and freedom for creative activities, which, in turn, will result in higher levels of employee creativity (Omilion-Hodges & Ackerman, 2018). Thus:

H4: Frequency of supervisor-employee interaction positively influences employee creativity.

Supervisor Gender, Interaction Frequency and Employee Creativity

We argue that the frequency of supervisor-employee interaction mediates the relationship between female supervisors and employee creativity because social role theory suggests that women are prone to build relationships that communicate social comfort, trust, and participation, which, in turn, will foster the frequency of supervisor-employee interaction. In addition, Eagly and Johannesen-Schmidt (2001) find that women exceed men in leadership qualities of idealized influence, inspirational motivation, individualized consideration, and interpersonal support. Accordingly, we suggest that during their interactions with their employees, female supervisors are more able to communicate respectfully and appreciate employees' ideas, express concern for their feelings, inducing them to be more optimistic about the future, more confident, and more divergent in their thinking, thus increasing creative thought and innovative problem-solving. Tierney et al. (1999) also support this view, finding that employees' perceptions of leader interpersonal support were correlated to their creative output.

Moreover, we believe that via mutual interaction and conversation, female supervisors are also better able to help with the idea convergence process by exchanging valuable and relevant information with their employees, offering on-time and constructive feedback, and creating a balance between the employees' freedom and responsibilities. In support of this view Fairhurst (1993) finds that female leaders apply "different aligning, accommodating, and polarizing conversational patterns across differential LMX relationships" (Lee, 1999, p.419). To sum up, we assert that through creating an active and committed ongoing social interaction with their employees, female supervisors will be able to enhance both the divergence and

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

convergence stages of ideation and foster employee creativity more compared to their male counterparts. Thus:

H5: Frequency of supervisor-employee interaction mediates the relationship between supervisors' gender (i.e., being female) and employee creativity.

Culture
H1a: South
Korea
H2a: Japan

H5 (+) Mediating Effect

Frequency of
Supervisor –
Employee
Interaction

H2 (+)

H2 (+)

Frequency of
Supervisor –
Employee
Creativity

Figure 1 – Conceptual Model

DATA AND METHODOLOGY

Sample and Data

The sample firms were identified from the Ministry of Commerce (MOFCOM), an executive agency of foreign direct investments (FDI) which has operated in China for over two decades. Firms that qualified for the survey have foreign employees working alongside one another in the exact office location and have been involved in innovation activities. We collected the data in two stages. First, we sent an introductory participation-request letter and summary of the proposed research to a random sample of twenty foreign subsidiaries located in the twelve economically developed providences along the east coast of China, where most of the country's FDI originates. As a result, three foreign subsidiaries agreed to participate, representing different home-country cultures, including Germany, Japan, and South Korea. All three foreign subsidiaries have operated in China for over 25 years and have been involved in innovation activities.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

We then contacted respondents from three foreign subsidiaries. Of the 500 initially contacted, 138 agreed to participate, with a 28 percent acceptance rate. Of the 138 questionnaires, 116 were usable. Among the respondents, the majority were well educated. 72 percent indicated that they had at least an undergraduate degree, and considerable knowledge and experience. The average tenure of respondents equates to 6 years, and the average age of respondents was 32 years old, and by gender, 43 percent were female, and 47 percent were male, which corresponds well with the population of foreign subsidiaries in China (Textor, 2021, A; Textor, 2021, B). While additional information on the population of all foreign subsidiaries' diverse organizational culture is unavailable, it was observed that the respondents were likely to be representative of the population. The survey developed was originally created in English, then translated into Chinese, and then back translated to ensure clarity. The Likerttype measurement scale was utilized for the constructs, adopting most of them from prior studies. Before the on-site interviews, semi-structured interviews with senior executives were constructed in a multinational corporation (MNC) to help refine key constructs and ensure the use of appropriate wording for the multicultural setting in the foreign subsidiaries. To control for non-response bias, we randomly selected 500 foreign subsidiaries from the databases provided by the China Ministry of Commerce and used an unpaired t-test to examine the mean difference between responding firms and obtained-sample firms on key firm characteristics (duration of operations and financial performance); no significant difference was found. We collected data from two separate sources. While the participants were asked to answer a set of self-assessment questions, all of them were assessed by their supervisors.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Measures

Table 1: *Observations, Means, Standard Deviations, and Minimums and Maxes among the Study Variables.*

Descriptive Statistics							
Variable	Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. dev.	Min	Max	
Employee Creativity	Dependent	116	2.90	0.71	1	4.38	
Supervisor Gender (F)	Independent	116	0.27	0.44	0	1	
Japan	Independent	117	0.33	0.47	0	1	
South Korea	Independent	117	0.19	0.39	0	1	
Germany	Independent	117	0.47	0.50	0	1	
Supervisor Education	Control	117	0.93	0.25	0	1	
Supervisor Tenure at Company	Control	116	9.12	4.58	1	19	
Employee Gender	Control	116	0.42	0.50	0	1	
Employee Education	Control	117	0.72	0.45	0	1	
Employee Tenure at Company	Control	116	5.67	3.98	0.42	18	
Frequency of Interaction between Supervisor and Employee (Monthly)	Mediator	116	15.58	6.64	1	20	

Table 1 reports the observations, means, standard deviations, and minimums and maxes of the study variables.

Dependent Variable

The study's dependent variable is Employee Creativity, which is measured by adopting thirteen items scale from George and Zhou (2001). The supervisors were asked to answer on a scale of one to five to what extent they agreed with the statements about a specific employee who responded to other questions. This approach is consistent with the tradition in the organizational creativity literature that supervisor ratings are often used to measure creative behavior (George & Zhou, 2001; Tierney, et al., 1999). The statements focus on issues related to possessing unique perspectives, generating creative ideas, proposing new ways to solve problems, etc. All the items were loaded significantly to one factor (Cronbach's α = .92, M = 2.90, S.D. = .71).

Independent Variable

The independent variables of this study include the Supervisor's Gender and MNC's home-country culture. The Supervisor's Gender is measured as a dummy variable where female =1 and male =0. As depicted in Table 1, 27% of supervisor respondents were female. The MNC's home-country culture is also measured as a dummy variable where we coded their

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

country of origin=1, and the countries of origin that they do not identify with as =0. As illustrated in the table, 33% of respondents were Japanese, 19% were South Korean, and 47% were German.

Mediating Variable

The mediator variable, Supervisor-Employee Interaction Frequency is measured by asking employees how frequently they interacted with their supervisor. The scale used to measure this was a single select multiple-choice question. Employees were given five options: once a month, once every two weeks, once a week, twice or more a week, and daily. We created a continuous variable by converting their responses into the number of monthly interactions ranging from 1 to 20. The average number of interactions is fifteen times a month in our sample which according to the scale demonstrates that on average superiors and subordinates interact "twice or more a week".

Control Variables

The control variables include Supervisors' Education, Supervisors' Tenure at the company, Employee Gender, Employee Education, and Employee Tenure at the Company. Education is measured by the number of years of formal education. Supervisors have, on average, sixteen years of education, while it is fifteen years for employees. Tenure is the number of years the person has worked for the company. The average tenure at the company for the superiors was around nine years, while for employees, it is about six. Finally, employee gender is measured as a dummy variable where 1=female and 0=male. Table 1 presents that 42% of employees were female in the sample.

Estimation Strategy

We investigated the effect of Supervisor Gender on Employee Creativity and the mediating role of Employee-Supervisor Interaction in this relationship by using mediated regression analysis with a Structural Equation Modeling (SEM command) on STATA. To start with, we only include the control variables to test their predictive power on employee creativity.

Employee Creativity = $\alpha i + + \lambda$ controls+ errori

We test H1....

Employee Creativity = $\alpha i + \beta 1$ Japan + $\beta 2$ South Korea + δC controls+ errori

Then, we test H2 by including the supervisor gender. We expect to find a positive relationship between supervisor gender being female and employee creativity.

Employee Creativity = $\alpha i + \beta 1$ Supervisor Female + δi controls+ errori

To test Hypotheses 3, we regress frequency of interaction on supervisor gender. As we described above, we expect to find a positive effect of supervisor gender on employee creativity.

Interaction Frequency = $\alpha i + \beta 1$ Supervisor Female + δi controls+ errori

Finally, we regress employee creativity on supervisor gender and frequency of interaction to test H4 and H5.

Employee Creativity = $\alpha i + \beta 1$ Supervisor_Female + + $\beta 2$ Interaction_Frequency + $\delta \alpha$ controls + error

Table 2 reports the correlation of the study variables. As shown, there are six variables that are significantly correlated with the employees' creativity. Of the six, four are applicable to this study, Supervisor Gender, Frequency of Interaction between Supervisor and Employee, South Korea, and Germany. As depicted, employees' average creativity score is significantly and positively correlated with three variables: Germany as the country of origin, frequency of interaction, and supervisor gender. In contrast, employees' creativity is significantly and negatively correlated with South Korea as the country of origin.

The first column in Table 3 reports the effect of the control variables on Employee Creativity. Two control variables, Supervisor Education and Supervisor Tenure, have positive and significant signs out of the five control variables we include. The second column in Table 3 tests the effect of the effect of culture on employee's creativity. The coefficient on Japan and South Korea is negative and statistically significant (Japan: $\gamma = -0.31$, p < .018) (South Korea: $\gamma = -1.08$, p < 0), confirming our Hypothesis 1 that employee creativity will be greater in

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Western cultures compared to Eastern cultures. In addition, the coefficient on supervisor gender is positive and statistically significant (γ =0.31, p <0.02), confirming Hypothesis 2 that supervisor gender (i.e., being female) positively influences employee creativity. The third column in Table 3 tests the mediating effect of supervisor gender on supervisor-employee interaction frequency, and the coefficient of supervisor gender is positive and significant (γ = 3.34, p <.02), confirming our Hypothesis 3 that the supervisor's gender (i.e., being female) positively influences frequency of supervisor-employee interaction. Finally, column four in Table 3 tests the effect of all the variables on Employee. Based on our results, Column 4 demonstrates that the frequency of supervisor-employee interaction significantly and positively affects employee creativity (γ = 0.03, p < .01), confirming H4 that the frequency of supervisor-employee interaction positively influences employee creativity. Additionally, our independent variables continued to also be statistically significant in influencing employee creativity.

Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity: The Mediating Role of Interaction Frequency *Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick*

RESULTS

 Table 2: Means, Standard Deviation, and Correlation among the Study Variables

Variable	Employee Creativity	Supervisor Gender (F)	Superviso r Education	Supervisor Tenure at Company	Employ ee gender (F)	Employee Education	Employee Tenure at Company	Frequency of Interaction between Superior and Employee	Japan	South Korea	Germany
Employee Creativity	1										
Supervisor Gender (F)	0.28*	1									
Supervisor Education	0.09	0.30*	1								
Supervisor Tenure at Company	0.23*	0.06	(0.23)*	1							
Employee Gender (F)	0.05	0.08	0.01	0.17	1						
Employee Education	0.08	0.20*	0.20*	0.24*	0.07	1					
Employee Tenure at Company	0.21*	0.05	(0.06)	0.42*	0.14	0.16	1				
Frequency of Interaction between Supervisor and Employee	0.35*	0.14	(0.21)*	0.34*	0.04	0.01	0.14	1			
Japan	(0.01)	(0.31)*	(0.19)*	0.37*	(0.13)	0.25*	0.09	0.18*	1		
South Korea	(0.48)*	(0.14)	(0.09)	(0.63)*	(0.19)*	(0.27)*	(0.34)*	(0.31)*	(0.34)*	1	
Germany	0.39*	0.40*	0.25*	0.14	0.27*	(0.02)	0.18	0.07	(0.68)*	(0.46)*	1

Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity: The Mediating Role of Interaction Frequency *Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick*

 Table 3: Employee Creativity, Supervisor Gender, and Frequency of Supervisor-Employee Interaction

	Model (1)	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Variables		(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Employee Creativity	Employee Creativity	Employee Creativity	Frequency of Interaction (Monthly)	Employee Creativity
Supervisor Gender (F)			0.31**	3.34**	0.23*
-			(0.14)	(1.43)	(0.14)
Japan		-0.31**	-0.18	1.57	-0.22
-		(0.13)	(0.14)	(1.47)	(0.14)
South Korea		-1.08***	-1.03***	-3.70*	-0.93***
		(0.20)	(0.20)	(1.97)	(0.19)
Germany		omitted	omitted	omitted	omitted
Supervisor Education	0.09*	-0.01	-0.03	-1.30**	0.00
-	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.55)	(0.05)
Supervisor Tenure	0.03**	-0.01	-0.02	0.17	-0.02
-	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.18)	(0.02)
Employee Gender	-0.01	-0.13	-0.11	-0.23	-0.11
	(0.14)	(0.12)	(0.12)	(1.17)	(0.11)
Employee Education	-0.01	-0.01	-0.02	-0.36	-0.01
	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.33)	(0.03)
Employee Tenure	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.15)	(0.01)
Frequency of Interaction					0.03***
between Supervisor and					(0.01)
Employee					
Constant	1.11	3.54***	3.84***	39.51***	3.03***
	(0.86)	(0.96)	(0.96)	(9.70)	(1.01)
Obs	116	116	116	116	116
R2	0.0886	0.2778	0.3067		
Log Likelihood				-1742.5592	-1742.5592

DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS

The purpose of this research was to examine the relationship between supervisor gender, culture, and employee creativity and observe what mechanism mediates this relationship. Our results demonstrate that culture impacts organizational creativity and Western cultures exhibit greater average creativity scores than Eastern cultures. More specifically, our data illustrates that South Korean and Japanese cultures weaken employee creativity compared to German culture. Additionally, our results also reveal that women in leadership positions positively influence employee creativity. This effect was driven by frequency of interaction between the supervisors and their subordinates – such that employees exhibited higher creativity scores when they participated in frequent interaction with their supervisor. By confirming hypotheses one through five, this research supports the notion that culture, and supervisor gender do influence employee creativity. The effect was seen among all three cultures proving that this is not a lone effect for one culture.

The conducted analysis supports the theory that Western culture is more creative than Eastern culture. This finding is potentially attributable to the Western hemisphere more favorably supporting cultures that foster high individualism, low power distance, and low uncertainty avoidance, which are more conducive to expressing and sampling unique ideas for further development (Harzing & Hofstede, 1996; Li et al., 2013; Westwood & Low, 2003, Kwan, et al., 2018). Accordingly, Kwan, et al. (2018) found that these Western cultural dimensions reduce conformity pressures and anxiety of ambiguities, which enables them to support greater exploration of various and counter normative ideas and approaches. In contrast, countries in line with Eastern culture tend to foster collectivism, high power distance, and high uncertainty avoidance. Moreover, Eastern cultures exhibit a high aversion to risk, which reflects an unwillingness to deal with uncertainties because of a fear of failure (Chew & Putti, 1995; Ting & Ying, 2013). Additionally, they also tend to harmonize conflicts and compromise contradictions by finding a middle ground (Leung et al., 2017; Kwan, et al., 2018). As a result, these cultures are less likely to reap creative benefits from their experiences because of their desire to harmonize tension and avoid conflict or contradictions. Our study confirms the theory that Eastern culture's alignment with collectivism, high power

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

distance, and high uncertainty avoidance prevents employees from exhibiting higher levels of creativity, with Japan and South Korea significantly and negatively influencing employee creativity (Japan: $\gamma = -0.31$, p < .018) (South Korea: $\gamma = -1.08$, p < 0). As a result, companies that practice within an Eastern cultural context and want to encourage employee creativity within their organization, should consider their cultural tendencies, and attempt to mitigate the impact they have on their organizational culture. Moreover, our study specifically suggests that companies should adopt a culture that encourages frequent interaction between supervisors and their subordinates.

The results of our study also indicate that female supervisors positively influence employee creativity and the mechanism through which they influence employee creativity is frequency of interaction. As suggested by existing literature, females are known to exhibit behaviors that are nurturing, empowering, cooperative, and communal (Eagly & Wood, 2012). Due to these behavioral patterns, women are more likely to take a more interpersonal and participative approach to leadership (Ayman & Korabik, 2010), and consequently foster a higher-level of leader member exchange, which is conducive to frequent interactions between supervisors and their subordinates. Overall, the characteristics that females generally align with enable them to create a more trusting and nurturing environment (Oshagbemi & Gill, 2003), which helps build a more psychologically safe atmosphere where employees feel safe to propose unconventional ideas and introduce conflicting opinions without fear of reprisal, ultimately leading to greater employee creativity.

Moreover, this work also reveals that the frequency of supervisor-employee interaction can substantially influence employee creativity. Such that, employees that engage with their subordinates more frequently reap more significant creative benefits. This finding is supported by Tierney, al. (1999), who found that the quality of the LMX relationships sets the foundation for an employee's creative performance in multiple ways. For instance, employees that engage in frequent interaction with their supervisors, or report a high LMX relationship, state that they receive more task related resources that in turn enable them to engage in more pertinent tasks. Additionally, high LMX relationships foster high levels of trust, information

exchange, informal influence, and greater in-put decisions (Graen & Cashman, 1975; Tierney, et al., 1999; Graen & Scandura, 1987; Liden & Graen, 1980; Lee, 1999), which enables employees to speak up, share their ideas, and receive feedback and recognition, all of which support and enhance the idea divergence and convergence stages in employee creativity (Tierney, et al., 1999).

THEORICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

This work contributes to the current international business and management literature, in addition to the employee creativity and innovation literature by filling a research gap. This study adds to the experiential text as it is among the first to systematically propose and test the mechanism through which a supervisor's gender influence employee creativity in a crosscultural setting.

More specifically, this study makes two theoretical contributions. First, it contributes to the management literature by linking frequency of supervisor-employee interaction to employee creativity for the first time and enhancing the understanding of female supervisor's influence on employee creativity. Prior management literature on supervisor gender and employee creativity focuses on leadership style, but these studies offer mixed results (Jung, 2001) and don't specifically study the correlation between supervisor gender and creativity, and what mediates the relationship. Second, it contributes to the international business literature by providing a robust analysis demonstrating that Eastern culture, compared to Western cultures, negatively impacts employee creativity.

PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

The results of this study demonstrate that global businesses should consider hiring more female superiors to not only diversify their companies but to also encourage greater interaction and facilitation of ideas between their supervisors and employees. This in turn will foster greater creativity and in turn, increase their competitive advantage in the global arena. Additionally, the results suggest that Eastern cultures that want to encourage employee creativity, should attempt to shift their employees' cultural perspective through their organizational cultural values. Moreover, they should adopt an organizational culture that is

more aligned with Western cultural values that supports an environment of individualism, low power distance, and low uncertainty avoidance. This is suggested because previous research indicates that Western culture reduces conformity pressures, which can lead to group think, and anxiety of ambiguities which can discourage employees from engaging in greater exploration of various and counter normative ideas and approaches.

Additionally, leaders invested in improving creativity and innovation, regardless of their gender, should be conducive to promoting an environment that fosters high leader member exchange relationships that encourage frequent "information exchange, mutual support, informal influence, trust, and greater negotiating latitude and input decision influence" (Lee, 1999, p.147). These qualities have been found to set the foundation for employee creative performance in several ways (Tierney, et al., 1999). Such that, employees that reported engaging in high-leader member exchange relationships were found to receive more task related resources and recognition, engage in more difficult tasks, and were more prone to jobrelated risk taking (Graen & Cashman, 1975; Graen & Scandura, 1987; Tierney, et al., 1999).

These findings have significant practical implications for management practitioners regarding how to use frequent interaction between supervisors and their employees to encourage greater employee creativity. Although the application of this research has the potential to vary across different cultures, there is a core theme. The findings suggest that management practitioners should use a more participative and interpersonal approach to leadership and create time for more frequent interactions between themselves and their subordinates. Such leadership mechanisms can enhance employee creative outcomes within an organizational setting, which in turn will help companies establish effective differentiation and competitive advantage.

<u>LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH</u>

Although this research study provides significant contributions to existing literature, this data must be considered in the context of the limitations. First, this study observed three cultures as they were a part of a convenient, and readily available sample. Future exploration should analyze the moderating effect of culture on the relationship between supervisor gender and

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

employee creativity. It is also advised to assess the effect of moderation using larger sample sizes with a more balanced gender ratio.

To further strengthen this work, it is crucial to include participants from different countries. When supervisor and gender are involved, one's background and culture play a critical role in people's values and virtues, and ways of behaving. It would be interesting to observe whether the results confirmed by this study are consistent among cultures globally. In addition, different countries' cultures can be investigated, and then new moderation and mediation mechanisms can be introduced into the research. This will continue to strengthen the generalizability of the effect of culture and supervisor gender on employee creativity.

Another limitation of this sample is the age of the data. Due to the nature of this study, it was necessary that we look to culturally diverse nations, however, because this study was conducted within the United States, we knew that it would be naïve to assume that we could gather data from Eastern cultures. Due to these barriers, we utilized data that was collected in 2016. Considering it has been seven years since this data was collected, it is likely that the organizational culture present in these organizations could have changed, making this data less applicable. Thus, it is suggested that a more recent study be conducted to analyze whether this data remains relevant.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study examined the effects of culture and supervisor gender and the mediating effect of supervisor-employee interaction on employees' creativity. Despite the limitations, including the sample size and age of the data, it makes an important contribution to the understanding of the effect of supervisor gender on employee creativity in a cross-cultural and synchronous context. Moreover, this study demonstrates that the same behaviors (i.e., nurturing, empowering, cooperative, and communal) that disadvantage women in traditional leadership roles, in fact support them in enhancing the creativity of their subordinates. Overall, this study adds one step toward unveiling the practices through which supervisor gender and culture influence employee creativity and how frequently supervisors should interact to bring about creativity and innovation. As the global business environment

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

becomes increasingly competitive, and as innovative and creative groups of individuals have become noteworthy for many successful organizations, one of the most important things that leaders and managers need to understand is how they can inspire subordinates' creative potential, and this study demonstrates that frequent supervisor-employee interaction is one way to encourage creative solutions.

Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity: The Mediating Role of Interaction
Frequency
Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Supervisor Survey

Supervisor Survey

This survey requires you to assess the below named employee on his or her work performance in a global/international setting (i.e., collaborating with colleagues and business associates from different countries or cultural backgrounds to solve business problems). Please be candid on your assessment and answer the following questions to the best of your knowledge for this person. He or she <u>WILL NOT</u> see your responses.

pers	on. He of she <u>will not</u> see your responses.		
Nan	ne of subordinate:		
A.	Duration that you have known this person:	years	months
B.	On average, how often do you interact with this	is person?	
C	Once a month,Once every two weeks,Once a week,	Twice or n	nore a week,
Dails	J		

- C. The following questions concern this person's behavior <u>when working</u> <u>with colleagues and business associates (e.g., clients or suppliers) from other countries and cultural backgrounds.</u>
- 1. Suggests new ways to achieve goals or objectives.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

2. Comes up with new and practical ideas to improve performance.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

3. Searches out new technologies, processes, techniques, and/or product ideas.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

4. Suggests new ways to increase quality.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

5. Is a good source of creative ideas.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

6. Not afraid to take risks.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

7. Promotes and champions ideas to others.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

8. Exhibits creativity on the job when given the opportunity to.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

9. Develops adequate plans and schedules for the implementation of new ideas.

Not at all characteristics of	Somewhat characteristic of thi		Very characteristic of this employee	
this employee		employee		1 7
1	2	3	4	5

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

10. Often has new and innovative ideas.

Not at all	Somewhat			Very characteristic
characteristics of	characteristic of this			of this employee
this employee	employee			
1	2	3	4	5

11. Comes up with creative solutions to problems.

Not at all	Somewhat			Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

12. Often has a fresh approach to problems.

Not at all	Somewhat			Very characteristic
characteristics of	characteristic of this			of this employee
this employee	employee			
1	2	3	4	5

13. Suggests new ways of performing work tasks.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of	characteristic of this			of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

14. Willing to assist colleagues from other cultures/countries to adjust to the work environment.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of	characteristic of this			of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

15. Willing to help colleagues from other cultures/countries solve work-related problems.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Not at all characteristics of	Somewhat characteristic of this			Very characteristic of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

16. Willing to cover work assignments for colleagues from other cultures/countries when needed.

Not at all	Somewhat			Very characteristic
characteristics of	characteristic of this			of this employee
this employee	employee			
1	2	3	4	5

17. Willing to coordinate and communicate with colleagues from other cultures/countries.

Not at all		Somewhat		Very characteristic
characteristics of		characteristic of this		of this employee
this employee		employee		
1	2	3	4	5

Demographic Information 1. Age:		
2. Gender: Male / Female		
3. Country of origin:		
4. Ethnicity:		
5. Tenure at organization:	years	months
6. Highest Education level:PhD_	MastersBachelor_	High School
7. Number of years living in China: _		
8. Countries outside China that you h	ave visited.	
Country	Duration of visit	(months)

$^{\circ}$	1	

Supervisor Gender and Employee Creativity: The Mediating Role of Interaction Frequency Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick 5. Name: ______ 6. Title: ______

Department: _____

7.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Appendix B – Employee Survey

Individual Employee Survey

Part A:

The following survey asks you about your personal preferences and habits. Please read each statement carefully and choose the one that best describes you. There are NO "right" or "wrong" answers, just what is true of you.

Note: The term "culture" refers to values, norms, and beliefs of people from distinct racial, ethnic, or national backgrounds.

1. I adjust my cultural knowledge when I interact with people from different cultures

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

2. I am conscious of the cultural knowledge I use when I interact with people from different cultures

Strongly	Moderately	Disagrag	Neutral	Agree	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree			Agree	Agree

3. I am conscious of the cultural knowledge I apply in cross-cultural interactions

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

4. I check the accuracy of my cultural knowledge when I interact with people from different cultures

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree Neutr	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

_	•	•	• , ,•	• . 1	1	r	1.00	1,
	•	ONION	INTOVACTING	1411th	noonlo	trom	dittorout	cultures
J.	•	e il ii) v	interacting	WLLIL	nemne		ullielell	Cullul es.
	_	,			F	,	,,,	

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
					, and the second	<u> </u>

6. I enjoy living in cultures that are unfamiliar to me.

Strongly	Moderately	Disagrag	Neutral	Agraa	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree	Agree

7. I am confident that I can socialize with locals in a culture that is unfamiliar to me.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

8. I am confident that I can get accustomed to the shopping

conditions in a different culture.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

9. I am sure I can deal with the stresses of adjusting to a culture that is new to me.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree Neutral		Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

10. As I learn more about other cultures, I see many irreconcilable differences between their values and ideas

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Not at all				To some				To a great
				extent				extent

11. The more I learn about other cultures, the more tensions I see among them

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Not at all				To some				To a great
				extent				extent

12. There is a limit to how far ideas from different cultures I know can be combined

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Not at all				To some				To a great
				extent				extent

13. I feel attached to the world as a whole

Strongly	Moderately	Disagrag	Noutral	Agraa	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree	Agree

14. I define myself as a member of the world as a whole

Strongly	Moderately	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	iveuitai	Agree	Agree	Agree

15. I feel close to the world as a whole

Strongly	Moderately	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	_		~	Agree	Agree

16. Around me, I am close to often blame members of other cultural groups for their problems.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

17. Around me, conflicts among coworkers I have good relationships with often took on cultural undertones.

Stroi Disa	0.	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree	
---------------	----	------------------------	----------	---------	-------	---------------------	-------------------	--

18. Around me, coworkers I am close to often accused members of other cultural groups of stealing their opportunities.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

19. I always try hard to get along well with others.

		<u> </u>		
Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

20. I found it difficult to put myself in others' shoes to consider their points of view.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree		Agree	Agree

21. I usually can maintain peace of mind.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

22. At times, my friends remark that I am too self-centered.

Strongly	Moderately	Noutrol	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree

23. I try my best to maintain harmony in my family because I believe that if a family lives in harmony, all things will prosper.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree		Agree	Agree

24. When facing a dilemma, I can always arrive at a compromise.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

25. My mind is at peace, and I have few desires.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree		Agree	Agree

26. I am open and sincere when relating to people.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

26. It is a virtue to tolerate everything.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly	
Disagree	Disagree	rvoutur	Agree	Agree	

27. It is unworthy for me to talk to or socialize with people whose educational level or social status are lower than mine.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

28. I follow the saying that "Those who are contented are always happy" as a principle in life.

Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Agree	Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Neutral	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
---------------------------------------	----------------------	------------------------	---------	---------------------	-------------------

29. When I am interacting with others, I seldom notice whether I am giving them a hard time.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

30. When I talk to people, I seldom notice whether I am offending them.

	1 1 /			<i>JJ</i> (
Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

31. I easily get into conflict with other people.

					_
Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly	
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree	

32. When I hear two sides of an argument, I often agree with both.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

33. I often find that things will contradict each other.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
						-

34. I sometimes believe two things that contradict each other.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

35. My world is full of contradictions that cannot be resolved.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

36. If there are two opposing sides to an argument, they cannot both be right.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree	
----------------------	------------------------	----------	---------	-------	---------------------	-------------------	--

37. Believing two things that contradict each other is illogical.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
Disagree	Disagree				115100	115100

38. I find that if I look hard enough, I can figure out which side of a controversial issue is right.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree	
----------------------	------------------------	----------	---------	-------	---------------------	-------------------	--

39. For most important issues, there is one right answer.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
40 I.C.	1.1	11. 1		•		
40. I fin	d that my wo	rld is relati	vely stable	and consi	stent.	

When two sides disagree, the truth is always somewhere in the middle. *41*.

		/				
Strongly	Moderately	Discourse	Noutral	A 0400	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree	Agree

When I am solving a problem, I focus on finding the truth. *42*.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

When two of my friends disagree, I usually have a hard time deciding *43*. which of them is right.

Strongly	Moderately	Disagrag	Neutral	Agraa	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree	Agree

44. There are always two sides to everything, depending on how you look at it.

Strongly	Moderately	Disagree	Neutral	Agraa	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	reuttai	Agree	Agree	Agree

Part B:

The following questions pertain to your impression of your immediate supervisor and your work environment. Again, there is no right or wrong answers. Your individual responses to these questions will NOT be shared with anyone in the company.

Name of immediate supervisor:	
My immediate supervisor	

1. Is interested in every aspect of his/her employees' lives.

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

2. Creates a family environment in the workplace.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

3. Consults his/her employees on job matters.

Strongly	Moderately	Noutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree

4. Is like an elder family member (father/mother, elder brother/sister) for his/her employees.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	inculai	Agree	Agree

5. Gives advice to his/her employees on different matters as if he/she were an elder family member.

Strongly	Moderately	Noutrol	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree

6. Makes decisions on behalf of his/her employees without asking for their approval.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

7. Knows each of his/her employees intimately (e.g., personal problems, family life, etc.).

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	incutai	Agree	Agree

8. Exhibits emotional reactions in his/her relations with the employees; doesn't refrain from showing emotions such as joy, grief, anger.

Strongly	Moderately	Noutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Agree

9. Participates in his/her employees' special days (e.g., weddings, funerals, etc.).

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutai	Agree	Agree

10. Tries his/her best to find a way for the company to help his/her employees whenever they need help on issues outside work (e.g., setting up home, paying for children's tuition).

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

11. Expects his/her employees to be devoted and loyal, in return for the attention and concern he/she shows them.

Strongly	Moderately	Neutral	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	Agree

12. Gives his/her employees a chance to develop themselves when they display low performance.

5.	Moderately Disagree	Neutral	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
----	------------------------	---------	---------------------	-------------------

13. Believes he/she is the only one who knows what is best for his/her employees.

		ı		1
Strongly	Moderately		Moderately	Strongly
0.	infoderatery	Neutral	moderatery	Strongry
Disagree	Disagree	ricuttat	Agree	Agree
Disagree	Dibugico	I	115100	115100

The following questions pertain to your work environment in general

14. The company makes it easy for people from diverse cultural and national backgrounds to fit in and be accepted.

Strongly	Moderately	Disagraa	Neutral	Agree	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree			Agree	Agree

15. Where I work, employees are developed / advanced without regard to the racial, religious, national, or cultural background of the individual.

8,7	erately Disagree Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
-----	---------------------------	---------	-------	---------------------	-------------------

16. Managers demonstrate through their actions that they want to hire and retain a culturally diverse workforce.

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

17. I feel that my immediate manager/supervisor does a good job of managing people with diverse backgrounds (in terms of, race, religion, nationality, or culture).

Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree

THANK YOU FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION!!!

De	mographic	Information
9	Age:	

_	ervisor Gender and Employee Creativi quency	ty: The Mediating Role of Interaction
	ors Thesis for Holly Chadwick	
10.0	Gender: Male / Female	
11.0	Country of origin:	
12.1	Ethnicity:	
13.7	Tenure at organization:	yearsmonths
	Highest Education level: _1PhD School	_2Masters_3Bachelor_4High
15.]	Number of years living in China: _	
16.0	Countries outside China that you h	ave visited.
	Country	Duration of visit (months)
<i>5</i> .	Name:	_
<i>6</i> .	Title:	
<i>7</i> .	Department:	<u> </u>

Honors Thesis for Holly Chadwick

Sources:

Part A:

Q1-4: Metacognitive CQ;

Q5-9: Motivational CQ;

Q10-12: Cultural incompatibility.

Q13-15: Global Identity (Psych Science);

Q16-Q18: Cultural disharmony. Esses, V. M., Jackson, L. M., & Armstrong, T. L. 1998. Intergroup competition and attitudes toward immigrants and immigration: An instrumental model of group conflict. Journal of Social Issues, 54: 699–724.

Q19-31: Fanny Cheung's Chinese personality scale (Harmony)

Q32-44: Contradiction factor of the Dialectical Thinking Scale. Cite: Spencer-Rodgers, J., Srivastava, S., Boucher, H. C., English, T., Paletz, S. B., & Peng, K. (2010). The dialectical self-scale. Unpublished data, as cited in Spencer-Rodgers, J., Peng, K., Wang, L., & Hou, Y. (2004). Dialectical self-esteem and East-West differences in psychological well-being. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 30, 1416-1432

REFERENCES

- Amabile, T. M. (1988). A model of creativity and innovation in organizations. *Research In Organizational Behavior*, 10(1), 123-167.
- An, D., & Kim, S. (2007). Relating Hofstede's masculinity dimension to gender role portrayals in advertising: A cross-cultural comparison of web advertisements. *International Marketing Review*, 24(2), 181-207. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02651330710741811
- Anderson, N., Lievens, F., van Dam, K., & Born, M. (2006). A construct-driven investigation of gender differences in a leadership-role assessment center. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(3), 555–566
- Atwater, L., & Carmeli, A. (2009). Leader–member exchange, feelings of energy, and involvement in creative work. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(3), 264-275.
- Ayman, R., & Korabik, K. (2010). Leadership: Why gender and culture matter. *American psychologist*, 65(3), 157.
- Bendapudi, N., Zhan, S., & Hong, Y. Y. (2018). Cultural values differentially moderate the benefits of basic education on two types of national innovation outputs. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 49(2), 199-222.
- Birukou, A., Blanzieri, E., Giorgini, P., & Giunchiglia, F. (2013). A formal definition of culture. *Models for intercultural collaboration and negotiation*, 1-26.
- Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (1988). Culture and the evolutionary process. *University of Chicago press*.
- Bozeman, A.B.: Strategic Intelligence and Statecraft: Selected Essays. Washington, DC: Brassey's (1992)

- Brodbeck, F. C., Frese, M., & Javidan, M. (2002). Leadership made in Germany: Low on compassion, high on performance. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 16(1), 16-29.
- Çekmecelioğlu, H. G., & Özbağ, G. K. (2016). Leadership and creativity: The impact of transformational leadership on individual creativity. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 235, 243-249.
- Chew, I. K. H., & Putti, J. (1995). Relationship on work-related values of Singaporean and Japanese managers in Singapore. *Human Relations*, 48(10), 1149. Retrieved from http://bryant.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/relationship-on-work-related-values-singaporean/docview/231492748/se-2
- Dorfman, P.W., Howell, J.P., Hibino, S. Lee, J.K., Tate, U., Bautista, A. (1997). Leadership in Western and Asian countries: Commonalities and differences in effective leadership processes across cultures, *The Leadership Quarterly*, 8(3), 233-274.
- Duchon, D., Green, S. G., & Taber, T. D. (1986). Vertical dyad linkage: A longitudinal assessment of antecedents, measures, and consequences. *Journal of applied psychology*, 71(1), 56.
- Dunegan, K. J., Tierney, P., & Duchon, D. (1992). Toward an understanding of innovative climate: Explaining variance in perceptions by divisional affiliation, work group interactions, and subordinate-manager exchanges. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 39, 227-236.
- Eagly, A. H., & Johannesen-Schmidt, M. C. (2001). The leadership styles of women and men. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(4), 781-797.
- Eagly, A. H., & Johnson, B. T. (1990). Gender and leadership style: A meta-analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, 108(2), 233.

- Eagly, A. H., Johannesen-Schmidt, M. C., & Van Engen, M. L. (2003). Transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership styles: a meta-analysis comparing women and men. *Psychological bulletin*, *129*(4), 569.
- Eagly, A.H., & Wood, W. (2012). Social role theory. In P.A.M. Van Lange, A.W. Kruglanski,& E.T. Higgins (Eds.), *Handbook of theories of social psychology* (pp. 458–476).Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Edmondson, A. (1999). Psychological Safety and Learning Behavior in Work Teams. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(2), 350–383.
- Edmondson, A. C., & Mogelof, J. P. (2006). Explaining psychological safety in innovation teams: organizational culture, team dynamics, or personality? In Creativity and innovation in organizational teams (pp. 129-156). *Psychology Press*.
- Engelen, A., Flatten, T. C., Thalmann, J., & Brettel, M. (2014). The effect of organizational culture on entrepreneurial orientation: A comparison between Germany and Thailand. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 52(4), 732–752.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12052
- George, J. M., & Zhou, J. (2001). When openness to experience and conscientiousness are related to creative behavior: an interactional approach. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(3), 513.
- Ghosh, K. (2015). Developing organizational creativity and innovation: Toward a model of self-leadership, employee creativity, creativity climate and workplace innovative orientation. *Management Research Review*, 38(11), 1126-1148.
- Gonzalez, F. Y., Green, M. T., Hodgson, M. N., & Wheeler, C. A. (2012). Leader virtues as predictors of transformational leadership. *ASBBS Proceedings*, *19*(1), 398.

- Graen, G. B., & Cashman, J. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process.

 Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 38, 46-78.
- Graen, G. B., & Scandura, T. A. (1987). Toward a psychology of dyadic organizing. *Research in organizational behavior*.
- Graen, G. B., & Uhl-Bien, M. (1995). Relationship-based approach to leadership:

 Development of leader-member exchange (LMX) theory of leadership over 25 years:

 Applying a multi-level multi-domain perspective. *The leadership quarterly*, 6(2), 219-247.
- Harzing, A., & Hofstede, G. (1996). Planned change in organizations. *Research in the Sociology of Organizations*, 14, 297-340.
- Hasib, F. F., Eliyana, A., Arief, Z., & Pratiwi, A. A. (2020). The effect of transformational leadership on employee performance mediated by leader-member exchange (LMX). *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 11(11).
- Hentschel, T., Braun, S., Peus, C., Frey, D. (2018). The communality-bonus effect for male transformational leaders—leadership style, gender, promotability. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 112-125.
- Herrera, R., Duncan, P. A., Green, M. T., & Skaggs, S. L. (2012). The effect of gender on leadership and culture. *Global Business & Organizational Excellence*, *31*(2), 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.21413
- Hirokawa, K., Vannieuwenhuyse, B., Dohi, I., & Miyata, Y. (2001). Comparison of French and Japanese individuals with reference to Hofstede's concepts of individualism and masculinity. *Psychological reports*, 89(2), 243-251.
- Hofstede, G. (1994). The business of international business is culture. *International Business Review*, *3*(1), 1-14.

- Hofstede, G. (2003). Cultural dimensions. www. geert-hofstede. com.
- Hofstede, G., & Minkov, M. (2010). Long- versus short-term orientation: new perspectives. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 16(4), 493–504.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381003637609
- Hu, H., Gu, Q., & Chen, J. (2013). How and when does transformational leadership affect organizational creativity and innovation? Critical review and future directions. *Nankai Business Review International*.
- Hughes, D., Lee, A., Tian, A., Newman, A., Legood, A. (2018). Leadership, creativity, and innovation: A critical review and practical recommendations, *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29 (5): 549-569.
- Jung, D. I. (2001). Transformational and transactional leadership and their effects on creativity in groups. *Creativity Research Journal*, 13(2), 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326934CRJ1302_6
- Khan, M. J., Aslam, N., & Riaz, M. N. (2012). Leadership styles as predictors of innovative work behavior. *Pakistan Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *9*(2), 17-22.
- Kroeber, A. L., & Kluckhohn, C. (1952). Culture: A critical review of concepts and definitions. Papers. Peabody Museum of Archaeology & Ethnology, *Harvard University*.
- Kuchinke, K. P. (1999). Leadership and culture: Work-related values and leadership styles among one company's US and German telecommunication employees. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 10(2), 135-154.
- Kwan, L. Y. Y., Leung, A. K. Y., & Liou, S. (2018). Culture, creativity, and innovation. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 49(2), 165-170.

- Lee, J. (1999). Leader-member exchange, gender, and members' communication expectations with leaders. *Communication Quarterly*, 47(4), 415-429.
- Leung, A. K.-y., Liou, S., Miron-Spektor, E., Koh, B., Chan, D., Eisenberg, R., & Schneider, I. (2017). Middle ground approach to paradox: Within- and between-culture examination of the creative benefits of paradoxical frames. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. Advance online publication.doi:10.1037/pspp0000160
- Li, C., Kwan, L. Y. Y., Liou, S., & Chiu, C. Y. (2013). Culture, group processes, and creativity. In M. Yuki & M. Brewer (Eds.), *Culture and group processes* (pp. 145-165). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Liden, R. C., & Graen, G. (1980). Generalizability of the vertical dyad linkage model of leadership. *Academy of Management journal*, 23(3), 451-465.
- Lv, J., Wanming, C., Yufang, R. (2021). The Impact of Calling on Employee Creativity: Evidence From Internet Companies, Frontiers in Psychology, 12:1664-1078
- Maliakkal, N. T., & Reiter-Palmon, R. (2022). The Effects of Leader Support for Creativity and Leader Gender on Subordinate Creative Problem-Solving Performance. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, pp. 1–18.
- Martin, J. (2015). Transformational and transactional leadership: An exploration of gender, experience, and institution type. portal: *Libraries and the Academy*, *15*(2), 331-351.
- McFate, M. (2005). The military utility of understanding adversary culture. *OFFICE OF NAVAL RESEARCH ARLINGTON VA*.
- Mead, M., & Métraux, R. (Eds.). (2000). The study of culture at a distance (Vol. 1). *Berghahn Books*.
- Mumford, M. D., & Gustafson, S. B. (1988). Creativity syndrome: Integration, application, and innovation. *Psychological bulletin*, 103(1), 27.

- Noh, G. (2022). Effects of Network Size, Diversity, and Interaction Frequency on Individual Creativity: A Study from South Korea. *Social Sciences*, 11(4), 170.
- Nouri, R., Erez, M., Rockstuhl, T., Ang, S., Leshem-Calif, L., & Rafaeli, A. (2013). Taking the bite out of culture: The impact of task structure and task type on overcoming impediments to cross-cultural team performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 34, 739-763.
- Oldham, G. R., & Cummings, A. (1996). Employee creativity: Personal and contextual factors at work. *Academy of management journal*, 39(3), 607-634.
- Omilion-Hodges, L.M., Ackerman, C.D. (2018). From the Technical Know-How to the Free Flow of Ideas: Exploring the Effects of Leader, Peer, and Team Communication on Employee Creativity, *Communication Quarterly*, 66(1): 38-57.
- O'Reilly, C. (1989). Corporations, culture, and commitment: Motivation and social control in organizations. *California management review*, 31(4), 9-25.
- Oshagbemi, T., Gill, R. (2003) "Gender differences and similarities in the leadership styles and behavior of UK managers", *Women in Management Review*, 18 (6): 288-298.
- Paik, Y., & Xie, G. (2019). Cultural differences in creativity and innovation: are Asian employees truly less creative than western employees? *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 25(1), 123–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381.2018.1535380
- Rego, A., Sousa, F., Cunha, M., Correia, A., Saur-Amaral, I. (2007). Leader Self-Reported Emotional Intelligence and Perceived Employee Creativity: An Exploratory Study, *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 16(3): 250-264.
- Reiter-Palmon, R., & Illies, J. J. (2004). Leadership and creativity: Understanding leadership from a creative problem-solving perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 15(1), 55-77.

- Reuvers, M., Van Engen, M. L., Vinkenburg, C. J., & Wilson-Evered, E. (2008).

 Transformational leadership and innovative work behaviour: Exploring the relevance of gender differences. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 17(3), 227-244.
- Rohmann, A., & Rowold, J. (2009). Gender and leadership style: A field study in different organizational contexts in Germany. *Equal Opportunities International*, 28(7), 545-560. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02610150910996399
- Rosener, J. B,(1990), "Ways Women Lead". Harvard Business Review, 119-125.
- Rudowicz, E. (2003). Creativity and Culture: a two-way interaction. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 47(3), 273. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313830308602
- Sarros, J. C., & Santora, J. C. (2001). The transformational-transactional leadership model in practice. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 22(7), 383-393. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/01437730110410107
- Scott, S. G., & Bruce, R. A. (1994). Determinants of innovative behavior: A path model of individual innovation in the workplace. *Academy of management journal*, 37(3), 580-607.
- Shafi, M., Zheng, Z., Xiaoting, L., Song, X, Sarker, M. (2020). The effects of transformational leadership on employee creativity: Moderating role of intrinsic motivation, *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 25 (3): 166-176.
- Sheer, V. C. (2014). "Exchange lost" in leader-member exchange theory and research: A critique and reconceptualization. *Leadership*, 11(2), 213–229.
- Stedham, Y., & Yamamura, J. (2002). National cultural characteristics: A comparison of gender differences in Japan and the US. *In abstract in Proceedings of the Academy of Business and Administrative Studies International Conference*, San Jose, Costa Rica. http://www.sba.muohio.edu/abas/2002/proceedings.html.

- Stobbeleir, K., Ashford, S. Buyens, D. (2011). Self-Regulation of Creativity at Work: The Role of Feedback-Seeking Behavior in Creative Performance, *Academy of Management Journal*, 54 (4): 811-831.
- Textor, C. (2021) A. Distribution of migrant workers China 2010-2020, by gender. Statista.
- Textor, C. (2021) B. Migrant workers' average age in China 2010-2020. Statista.
- Tierney, P., Farmer, S. M., & Graen, G. B. (1999). An examination of leadership and employee creativity: The relevance of traits and relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, 52(3), 591-620.
- Ting, S. K. T., & Ying, C. Y. (2013). Culture dimensions comparison: A study of Malaysia and South Korea. *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research*, 2(1), 535.
- Wang, A.C., Chiang, J.T.J., Tsai, C.Y., Lin, T.T., & Cheng, B.S. (2013). Gender makes the difference: The moderating role of leader gender on the relationship between leadership styles and subordinate performance. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 122, 101–113
- Westwood, R., & Low, D. R. (2003). The multicultural muse: Culture, creativity, and innovation. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*, 3, 235-259
- Winston. B., & Patterson. K. (2006). An integrative definition of leadership. *International Journal of Leadership Studies*, 1(2),6-66.
- Wong, S. I., & Berntzen, M. N. (2019). Transformational leadership and leader–member exchange in distributed teams: The roles of electronic dependence and team task interdependence. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 92, 381-392.
- World Bank, World Development Indicators. (2021). Labor force, female (% of total labor force) [Data File]. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.TOTL.FE.ZS

- World Economic Forum (2022). Global Gender Gap Report ,(Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/reports/global-gender-gap-report-2022/in-full/2-4-gender-gaps-in-leadership-by-industry-and-cohort/)
- Wu, M. (2006). Hofstede's cultural dimensions 30 years later: A study of Taiwan and the United States. *Intercultural Communication Studies*, 15(1), 33.
- Zha, P., Walczyk, J. J., Griffith-Ross, D. A., Tobacyk, J. J., & Walczyk, D. F. (2006). The impact of culture and individualism–collectivism on the creative potential and achievement of American and Chinese adults. *Creativity Research Journal*, 18(3), 355-366.
- Zhou, J., George, J.M. (2001). When Job Dissatisfaction Leads to Creativity: Encouraging the Expression of Voice, *The Academy of Management Journal*, 44 (4): 682-696.
- Zhou, J., George, J.M. (2003). Awakening employee creativity: The role of leader emotional intelligence, *The Leadership Quarterly*, 14 (4-5): 545-568.
- Zhou, L., Zhao, S., Tian, F., Zhang, X., & Chen, S. (2018). Visionary leadership and employee creativity in China. *International Journal of Manpower* 39(1), 93-105.
- Zuraik, A., Kelly, L., & Perkins, V. (2020). Gender differences in innovation: the role of ambidextrous leadership of the team leads. *Management Decision*, 58(7), 1475-1495.